

MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE EAST LOTHIAN INTEGRATION JOINT BOARD

THURSDAY 25 APRIL 2019 COUNCIL CHAMBER, TOWN HOUSE, HADDINGTON

Voting Members Present:

Councillor F O'Donnell (Chair) Councillor S Akhtar Councillor N Gilbert Ms F Ireland Mr A Joyce Councillor S Kempson Mr P Murray Prof M Whyte

Non-voting Members Present:

Mr D Binnie Ms P Dutton Ms C Flanagan Ms E Johnston Ms A Macdonald Ms M McNeill Ms J Tait Dr J Turvill (late)

Officers Present:

Mr P Currie Ms D Gray Ms A Hardy Ms J Holland Ms L Kerr Ms J Ogden-Smith

Clerk:

Ms B Renton

Apologies:

Dr G Choudhury Ms L Cowan Mr B Davies Ms F Duncan Mr T Miller Ms J Trench

Declarations of Interest:

Mr D Binnie and Ms E Johnston declared an interest in Item 7 and indicated they would leave the Chamber during consideration of this item.

1. MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE EAST LOTHIAN INTEGRATION JOINT BOARD OF 28 FEBRUARY AND 28 MARCH 2019 (FOR APPROVAL)

The minutes of the East Lothian Integration Joint Board meetings of 28 February and 28 March 2019 were approved.

2. MATTERS ARISING FROM THE MINUTES OF 28 FEBRUARY AND 28 MARCH 2019

There were no matters arising.

3. APPOINTMENT OF THE CHIEF OFFICER (FOR APPROVAL)

The Chair advised members that Ms Alison Macdonald had been appointed permanently as Chief Officer (as set out in the accompanying paper) and asked for their formal approval.

Decision

The IJB agreed to:

(i) Approve the recommendation made by the Appointment Committee as to the appointment of a Chief Officer.

The Chair said she welcomed Alison Macdonald's appointment as Chief Officer and looked forward to working with her on a permanent basis.

4. COMMISSIONED COMMUNITY SUPPORT

Ms Laura Kerr, Planning and Performance Manager, talked to a report updating the IJB on the 2019/20 budget for commissioned community support and associated transformation work. A previous paper had been discussed at the IJB on 22 March 2018.

Ms E Johnston commented she was delighted to see a clear picture however she was concerned that the transformation work was mainly within the complex needs group and change boards. She requested the process for review and how it will take place.

Ms L Kerr explained that the Carers of East Lothian are taken care of via the Carers Reference Group. Lunch Clubs equate to a small amount of funding however they work closely with One Partnership Council funding to see how best we can provide this type of service. Grant process is required to be improved in respect of smaller groups.

Ms E Johnston enquired as to how this will feed into the planning structure.

Ms J Holland replied that a plan has to be drawn in respect of the forthcoming year indicating which services we will procure which will demonstrate best value however the timing for this arrangement is a bit late in respect of this year. Grants will be processed by applications with the intention there will be a breakdown of how these grants are spent which will be more open and equal.

Ms L Kerr replied in answer to queries from Ms E Johnston and Councillor F O'Donnell that the transformation project covers many services including mobility however these will look different now and that a strategic overview would take place.

Councillor S Akhtar asked if benefit to locals would be taken into account.

In reply Ms J Holland commented that the criteria is set at the outset and at the point of going through process, directions will be given to the procurement team which carries more weight. This will then be scored and weighed accordingly. Noted this will occur whether a grant or service.

The Chair commented that she has been involved in the procurement exercise at Musselburgh Racecourse therefore wondering in terms of preparing the tender document and scoring are there plans to have external organisations and advocacy?

In reply Ms J Holland commented that this will be fed through the client team.

Ms A Macdonald noted the benefit of the services we wish to procure will be prepared outside this process and indicated that the role of IJB is to involve people and to be clear and concise of items that we wish to procure.

Ms L Kerr reported that Appendix B related to housing support services with £708,052.36 being allocated from the Health and Social Care budget, however there is only one more year left to run. This is joint contract between East Lothian and Midlothian.

Ms E Johnston enquired as to where the housing support review will take place and where will strategic discussions take place i.e. within the Older Peoples Change Board? Where will discussions be?

In reply Ms A Macdonald commented that in process of re-establishing the Housing Health and Social Care Board to ensure a collective understanding of the housing needs now and in future.

The Chair noted a huge process had taken place within the housing forum which she attends in her capacity as a health role. Currently developing policies and strategies and continually looking at holistic approach.

The Chair drew attention to The Hollies, Musselburgh who had taken the decision to no longer continue to be registered to provide care to older people with dementia. This is within the budget as Musselburgh has the biggest population in EL so looking to develop an alternative. Noted this is an opportunity.

The Chair thanked Ms L Kerr for her comprehensive report.

Note budget for 2019-20 etc, - members are happy to note.

Decision

The IJB agreed to:

- (i) Note the budget for 2019/20 for Commissioned Community Support.
- (ii) Note the continued work of the Community Transformation Project, determining the future model of community support within East Lothian. And therefore the need to extend the contracts for all community supports for one year until March 2020.

5. FINANCE UPDATE (VERBAL)

The Chief Finance Officer reported the indicative position from health is a £776,000 projected under spend with some slippage in programme funding. The intention is to carry forward money from Primary Care Improvement Fund and Action 15 funding which equates to circa £695,000.

Indicative position of social care is £1.1m overspend, which leaves the IJB with circa £375,000 overspend. This figure has been discussed with Council however meeting on 23 April 2019 was cancelled so work is still underway between officers to arrive at the final position.

The Chair reported facing real challenges this year in respect of the budget however currently encouraging organisations to look at funding from external organisations which will provide a safe service for people.

Ms A Macdonald noted that it is planned to have a development session at the May 23rd IJB meeting to discuss financial challenges. Appropriate officers will be in attendance to provide any required information to inform discussion.

Members noted the financial update.

6. EAST LOTHIAN PRIMARY CARE IMPROVEMENT PLAN

In her welcome the Chair noted the Primary Care Improvement Plan was a large piece of work, which provided good news in terms of progress.

Mr Paul Currie presented a paper describing the process in developing and contents of an update report on the Primary Care Improvement Plan.

Mr P Currie reported the initial three year PCIP was approved by the IJB and the GP Sub Committee in June 2018. This approval process was in line with the requirements of the Scottish Government to set out actions and planned improvements to deliver the new Scottish General Medical Services (GP) contract (as agreed by COSLA, the BMA and Scottish Government) and to modernise primary care. The Plan was produced in consultation with partners across primary care.

Mr P Currie reminded members that the focus of much primary care development work, such as the testing of the Musselburgh Model of same day service delivery, was focused in the west of the county where demand and needs are higher. The needs of communities and practices in the east of the county are different but they too will benefit from the roll-out of new services as described in the PCIP update.

The Links workers service currently available on 4 west of East Lothian practices is under review and is planned to be made available to all other practices across the county.

Mr P Currie asked members to accept the update plan and to note the plans within and the challenges there were ahead be in ensuring enough resources were available to deliver locally agreed and GMS-related priorities.

The Chair thanked Mr P Currie and Dr J Turvill for their hard work and reflected on the opportunities provided by the Musselburgh model, including its impact in reducing the prescribing, budget

Mr P Murray noted that a discussion regarding links workers and the benefits they offered to patients took place at the Strategic Planning Group on 24 April 2019. He recommended to members that that examine a recent Kings Fund a report on social prescribing.

Ms F Ireland noted positive developments in primary care, however she raised a concern that if the report recommendation 2.4 is agreed then the IJB would be agreeing to accept a resource shortfall. As a discussion has already taken place in respect of the tight budget within which the IJB has to operate we need to be explicit regarding what we can afford.

Ms Macdonald commented this item was discussed at the recent Strategic Planning Group, where discussion identified as an example of financial pressures that if we were to put in place all the pharmacist posts suggested to meet the aspirations of pharmacy colleagues there would be no money left for any other developments. Prioritisation was therefore essential. East Lothian is trying to utilise the funding to meet all demands, however all aspirations will not be met in the early stages of the 2018 Primary Care Improvement Plan and the update reflects what we can afford. The Chair agreed the need to be explicit as this is not clear.

Ms A Macdonald indicated no items will be taken forward that were not achievable within budget. Mr P Currie noted that current work underway across primary care is intended to deliver savings and efficiencies. As noted CWIC is showing a reduction in prescribing costs.

The chair asked if the paper therefore requires to be amended.

Ms F Ireland indicated that if we are agreeing a plan it should be explicit within the plan items that are affordable or not affordable.

Ms A Macdonald noted that the IJB have previously invested in the care home team which comes out of core funding therefore in essence we are supplementing the PCIF funding.

Chief Finance Officer noted that the feedback to Scottish Government did not include funding for posts.

The Chair noted the need to give reassurance that we are confident we can deliver a service.

The Chair requested the case to be made to the Scottish Government that East Lothian is underfunded due to population.

Councillor N Gilbert asked about progress in the work to improve the Harbours Medical Practice.

Ms A Macdonald replied that a Project Board is in place in respect of the Harbours Medical Practice, with work in this year's capital plan.

Councillor S Kempson enquired as to how much could the GPs in the east of East Lothian benefit from being more open minded.

The Chair reported that conversations are taking place with other practices regarding their use of parts of the Musselburgh model to meet the needs of their practice and patients.

Ms A Macdonald stated that discussion has taken place on how to meet needs as the access to GP service is different from west to east. She noted that two years ago Eskbridge Practice in Musselburgh became unviable. The Musselburgh Model was started in part in response to this. In the east of the county plans are focusing on GPs desires to increase patient access to mental health nurses, physiotherapists and home visiting arrangements.

Mr D Binnie asked about Mr Currie's suggestion of disparities between the east and west of the county.

Mr P Currie commented that it could be argued there is more community resilience is in the east than west as a result of more community assets and individuals having more resources at their disposal. In Primary care terms the east of the county starts in Haddington.

Mr Currie went on to say that East Lothian HSCP's support to practices was giving them confidence to deal with demand. The interest four practices are showing in extending their boundaries to cover the Blindwells development is a good example of this. There is some confidence that practice growth through boundary expansion is a means of making practices more viable. When the Musselburgh model is extended to include further west of east Lothian practices it will cover just over half of East Lothian's population.

Decision

The IJB agreed to accept the recommendations, with amendments to 2.3 to replace '*Accept*' with '*Agree*' and to 2.4 to indicate plans for 2019-2020 are affordable and plans will be developed to work within the primary care budget in coming years. Corresponding changes should also be made to the PCIP update report.

- 2.1 Note that the original Primary Care Improvement Plan was agreed by the IJB on the 28th June 2018, having already been agreed by the local GP Subcommittee of the Area Medical Committee on the 11th June 2018.
- 2.2 Note that the attached April 2019 Primary Care Improvement Plan update report (appendix 1) which reflects on progress in delivering on the commitments of the original PCIP, including the new GP contract and in introducing innovative approaches to primary care service delivery, was accepted by the local GP Subcommittee of the Area Medical Committee on 15th April.
- 2.3 Agree the Primary Care Improvement Plan update report and agree to receive further update reports as these are produced, in line with Ministerial Strategic Group requirements and/or each year of the plan.

- 2.4 Note that the amount of Scottish Government and NHS Lothian investment allocated to primary care has necessitated EL HSCP investment in key primary care support services. Further local investment may be required over the next two years of the contract implementation to deliver all GMS requirements. Primary Care service planning and prioritisation will take any budget limitations into account.
- 2.5 Note that in the development of the 2018 Primary Care Improvement Plan some GP practices, primarily in the east of the county, did not support the initial prioritisation of primary care work on the west of the county and focussed on the 'Musselburgh Model' (designed to respond to same day demand). All these opinions are being considered in the development of our new support services to primary care.
- 2.6 Note that to fully understand and to act on the needs of all of our practices the Primary Care Team plans a series of monthly meetings with GPs to work with them in further PCIP implementation in the next two years.

SUMMARY OF PROCEEDINGS – EXEMPT INFORMATION

The Integration Joint Board unanimously agreed to exclude the public from the following business containing exempt information by virtue of 5.9.5 of its Standing Orders (the Integration Joint Board is otherwise legally obliged to respect the confidentiality of the information being discussed).

Carers Organisations - Funding Proposals for 2019/20

The IJB considered a report on Funding Proposals for Carers Organisations 2019/20.



REPORT TO:	East Lothian Integration Joint Board
MEETING DATE:	23 May 2019
BY:	Chief Finance Officer
SUBJECT:	Budget Offers from NHS Lothian and East Lothian Council to the IJB for 2019/20

1 PURPOSE

1.1 This report presents the Board with the formal 2019/20 budget offers from East Lothian Council and NHS Lothian for consideration. The budget offers also includes indicative budget offer values for financial years 2020/21 and 2021/22.

2 **RECOMMENDATIONS**

- 2.1 The IJB is asked to:
 - i. Consider the formal budget offers for 2019/20; and
 - ii. Accept the formal budget offers made by both partners, noting the indicative future year's values.

3 BACKGROUND

- 3.1 At its meeting in March 2019, the IJB received an update on its projected 2018/19 year end financial position and the indicative budget offers and principles from partners East Lothian Council and NHS Lothian for 2019/20.
- 3.2 East Lothian Council agreed their 2019/20 budget on the 12th February 2019 and as such a formal budget offer of £53.48m has been offered to the IJB. This budget offer letter is attached as Appendix 1 and includes the following for 2019/20

East Lothian Council budget offer to the IJB	2019/20
	£000's
Baseline Budget for Social Care	51,424
Share of new Monies	
Investment in Integration	2,022
Carers Act	188
Free Personal & Nursing Care Under 65s	548
Savings	
Integration savings	-488
Corporate Savings	-214
	53,480

3.3 NHS Lothian concluded their financial planning process for 2019/20 at their Board meeting on the 3rd April 2019. They have now also formally notified the IJB of their budget offer for 2019/20 and this letter is attached as Appendix 2. Their offer to the IJB totals £104.114m and this offer is shown below

NHS Lothian budget offer to the IJB	2019/20
	£000's
Baseline Budget for Core Hosted & Set Aside	100,616
Uplift of 2.6%	2,611
Funding to cover Unscheduled Care Increased Costs & Other	887
	104,114

- 3.4 In line with the Integration Scheme the IJB should consider these budget offers in terms of "fair and adequacy" and formally respond to both Partners whether accepting the offers.
- 3.5 Its worth noting the offer letters include indicative values for 2020/21 and 2020/22, which we can use as a basis for our longer term rolling financial plan but these offer values will be formalised in future years.

4 ENGAGEMENT

4.1 The IJB holds its meetings in public and makes its papers and report available on the internet.

5 POLICY IMPLICATIONS

5.1 There are no new policies arising from this paper.

6 INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT

6.1 The subject of this report does not affect the wellbeing of the community or have a significant impact on equality, the environment or economy

7 **RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS**

- 7.1 Financial discussed above
- 7.2 Personnel none
- 7.3 Other none

8 BACKGROUND PAPERS

8.1 Financial Update – March 2019 IJB meeting.

AUTHOR'S NAME	Claire Flanagan
DESIGNATION	Chief Finance Officer
CONTACT INFO	Claire.flanagan@nhslothian.scot.nhs.uk
DATE	May 2019

Appendix 1 – East Lothian Councils budget offer to the IJB Appendix 2 – NHS Lothians budget offer to the IJB



John Muir House Haddington East Lothian EH41 3HA Tel 01620 827827

Our Ref : JL/JMcN Your Ref : Direct Dial : 01620 827413 Email : jlamond@eastlothian.gov.uk

29 March 2019

Councillor Fiona O'Donnell Depute Convener East Lothian Integration Joint Board

Dear Councillor O'Donnell,

FINANCIAL RESOURCE PROPOSAL FROM EAST LOTHIAN COUNCIL TO EAST LOTHIAN INTEGRATION JOINT BOARD – 2019/2020 TO 2021/2022

In accordance with the provisions set out in the Integration Scheme agreed between East Lothian Council and NHS Lothian, this letter sets out the formal proposal from East Lothian Council to the Integrated Joint Board (IJB) advising of the level of financial resources that will be delegated by the Council in financial year 2019/2020 to the IJB.

This proposal has been derived from the 2019-2022 Budgets approved by Council on 12 February 2019, and includes East Lothian's share of the national Social Care Fund which amounts to £6.2m for 2019/2020. The offer also sets out indicative budgets for 2020/2021 and 2021/2022, and these will be updated annually in line with the approved budget development framework. In addition, the Council's approved budget includes a range of unallocated 'corporate savings' that require to be delivered across all Council services, including those delegated to the IJB. This offer includes a proportionate share of these savings, and any implications for future years will be informed through the wider annual budget discussions. I should also note that this offer includes the Council's full allocation of the funding which has been received to deliver the Free Personal and Nursing Care for under 65s. The funding allocation has been confirmed since the budget was agreed by the Council and will be passed on in full. You should be aware that we have yet to receive confirmation of the funding allocation relating to School Counselling Service, and this will be discussed with the IJB Chief Officer and Chief Finance Officer once confirmation is received.

The level of funds allocated to the IJB is in line with the delegated functions set out in the Scheme of Integration. Details of this proposal are set out within the table below, and include a number of adjustments to reflect budgets relating to delegated functions from within the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) and General Services Non Housing budget, and removal of non-delegated expenditure from within the wider Adult Wellbeing service. You should be aware that discussions are still ongoing to finalise the actual budgets for these adjusted areas and, therefore, the figures set out below have been based on

indicative budgets for 2019/2020. It is, however, considered unlikely that there will be any material change to these budgets during 2019/2020, and I will ensure that the Chief Officer and Chief Finance Officer are presented with the finalised position as soon as possible.

It is also important to note that as some of these delegated budgets relate to resources contained within the HRA, any direction around the use of these budgets must also be considered alongside the statutory HRA guidance which sets out the parameters relating to proper use of the HRA resources.

	2019/2020 £m	2020/2021 £m	2021/2022 £m
Adult Wellbeing 2019/20 approved Budget	52.442	52.192	51.942
Less Non-delegated Functions	(0.790)*	(0.790)*	(0.790)*
Less Share of Corporate Savings	(0.214)	tbc	tbc
Add			
Free Personal & Nursing Care under 65's	0.548	tbc	tbc
Non HRA – Private Sector Housing Grant	0.256*	0.256*	0.256*
HRA – Disabled Adaptions (Capital)	1.000*	1.000*	1.000*
HRA – Garden Aid	0.238*	0.238*	0.238*
Total IJB budget allocation	53.480	52.896	52.646

* Indicative budgets

I confirm that these budgets represent the resources available to the Council to support the functions that have been delegated by the Council to the IJB.

The Council will seek to ensure that the operation of the delegated functions will be delivered within the available budgetary resources. In the event that financial monitoring reports indicate that an overspend is forecast, and immediate recovery plans prove unsuccessful, the responsibilities set out within the Scheme of Integration must be adopted to ensure an agreed and timely process is applied to consider the implications for the immediate financial year and any recurring issues going forward.

I look forward to receiving early confirmation from you around the level of budgets which will then be devolved to the Council, including the related directions that will apply during 2019/2020.

Yours sincerely

Jim Lamond Head of Council Resources (CFO)

cc: Alison MacDonald, Interim Chief Officer, East Lothian IJB Claire Flanagan, Chief Finance Officer, East Lothian IJ B Sarah Fortune, Service Manager, Finance, ELC

Lothian NHS Board

By Email Only

Finance Director's Office Waverley Gate 2-4 Waterloo Place Edinburgh EH1 3EG Telephone 0131 536 9000 www.nhslothian.scot.nhs.uk



Alison MacDonald Chief Officer East Lothian Integration Joint Board Date 9 May 2019 Your Ref Our Ref Enquiries to Susan Goldsmith Extension 35810 Direct Line 0131 465 5810 Email susan.goldsmith@nhslothian.scot.nhs.uk

Dear Colleague

Budget Agreement 2019/20 – East Lothian Integration Joint Board

I write further to my letter of 15th February and the approval of the NHS Lothian Financial Plan by the Board of NHS Lothian on April 3rd, which accepted limited assurance on the achievement of a breakeven outturn for the health board next year.

This letter sets out the key elements of your IJB budget for 2019/20 and beyond, based on the information contained in the Plan, updated for any new information now available.

Baseline Budget and Uplift

The approved Plan includes details on the anticipated additional receipts and planned allocation of resources for 2019/20. NHS Lothian received a 2.6% uplift to baseline budgets equating to £35.8m which gives due recognition to the additional cost of the reform to the Agenda for Change payscales. East Lothian IJB's share of this base uplift is £2,611k.

In developing the Financial Plan a number of principles were endorsed by NHS Lothian's Finance and Resources Committee:

- The importance of maintaining integrity of pay budgets through an equitable application of budget uplift to meet pay awards;
- A need to use recurrent resources against recurrent costs as far as possible, particularly in relation to the baseline recurrent gap;
- A recognition that there will be certain national costs which are inevitable;
- Under the arrangements for financial planning there is an expectation that all Business Units will plan to deliver financial balance against their budgets and therefore there needs to be recognition of the relative efficiency challenge across operational units;







Headquarters Waverley Gate 2-4 Waterloo Place Edinburgh EH1 3EG

Chair Brian G. Houston Chief Executive Tim Davison Lothian NHS Board is the common name of Lothian Health Board



• A reasonable balance of risk for NHS Lothian in the context of its breakeven target.

Recognising these key principles, the additional recurrent uplift has been prioritised against the following key areas across Lothian:

- £24.4m to fully fund pay awards, including Agenda for Change;
- £2.5m to provide a recurrent funding solution to the uplift to prescribing for 2018/19, previously funded through non recurring sources;
- £3m for Primary Care Investment, being the final £1m instalment of the £5m investment and making the £2m 18/19 investment recurring;
- £12.3m is provided to meet prior year recurring commitments previously funded from a non-recurrent source in 2018/19.

The current gap on the Financial Plan of circa £26m assumes that each of the IJBs can agree the application of additional resource against cost pressures which feature across NHS Lothian delegated functions. In addition it would be helpful to agree a mutually agreeable position for key cost pressures impacting across IJBs and non-delegated functions. We will continue dialogue with you in this regard.

Unscheduled Care

Given the patient safety and quality issues that the Board is facing in it's delivery of unscheduled care, it has endorsed the need to create both additional physical capacity at both the RIE and St Johns 'Front Door' and to enhance clinical staffing levels and management capacity. This will increase the costs attributed to the "Set Aside" element of IJB's resources and the Financial Plan utilises funding available to the Board to address this increased cost. This effectively passes additional Set Aside resource to the IJBs. The values set out reflect the latest information on the allocation of this resource at an IJB level, and may differ from the estimates initially identified in the Plan. The Plan figures were based on available information and necessary assumptions on the deployment of this resource. Updated information has now been received, reflected in amended figures in this area.

Summary Budget Adjustments

Table 1 below summarises the impact of these additions on your IJB with the percentage uplift values against your baseline included. These figures are generated from the IJB mapping table for 2018/19. We have updated the mapping table for 2019/20 and can provide a further update on budget allocations on agreement of this update.



Please note that the measure of uplift provided includes GMS - we expect to receive a separate uplift allocation for this later in the year and any incremental adjustment to your budget baseline will be made once this uplift has been confirmed. However, in the meantime the additional flexibility allocated to reach 2.6% will need to give consideration to the additional costs of growth within GMS. In addition, non-cash limited expenditure and budget is excluded from these calculations, consistent with last year.

The "Other" adjustment reflects smaller budget changes as part of the financial planning process. Further detail is available on request.

	Status	Allocation	East Lothian IJB £'000	% uplift on base
Baseline Budget 19/20	Delegated	Core	56,085	
		GMS	14,737	
		Corporate	441	
		Hosted	10,245	
	Set Aside		19,108	
Total			100,616	
Pay Uplift Investment in Prescribing PC Investment share of £3m Balance of Base Uplift Share of Base Uplift			1,296 10 360 945 2,611	1.3% 0.0% 0.4% <u>0.9%</u> 2.6%
Unscheduled Care Investment			825	0.8%
Other			62	0.1%
			3,498	3.5%
Total Budget			104,114	

Table 1 – Budget adjustments for East Lothian IJB, 2019/20

East Lothian IJB 2019/20 – 2023/24 Budget

At this stage the Scottish Government has only confirmed funding for 2019/20. However, assumptions have been made in order to forecast forward into future years and the implications of assumed additional funding streams and their agreed application for East Lothian IJB are shown below. The element of projected uplift is based on the assumption that future years' uplift will be in line with that received in 2019/20, although this remains subject to confirmation. At this stage, no further assumptions have been made around other uplift values. Table 2 shows the budget values to 2023/24.

	2020/21	2021/22	2022/23	2023/24
	£'000	£'000	£'000	£'000
Baseline Budget	103,227	105,100	106,096	107,112
Additional Budget	1,006	129	149	170
Estimated Total Budget	104,233	105,229	106,245	107,282

Table 2 – East Lothian estimated budget baselines to 2023/24

A more detailed breakdown of these constituent balances is presented in **Appendix 1**.

In addition, there are a number of additional funds which have been included in the Financial Plan for set aside functions, but which have not been included in the future years IJB allocations above as we do not yet have confirmation on how these resources will be allocated across each IJB (e.g. funding for new medicines). Once agreed, these allocations will further increase the total resources delegated to the IJB.

Finally, I can confirm that support services to the IJB, including Finance, will be provided on the same basis as previously. These resources are not included in the budgets set out above.

You will be aware that we have been working with CFOs to develop a revised cost and budget allocation model. This requires further work but we have agreed that we will introduce the new model in this financial year as a shadow year to support strategic planning.

We will continue to work with all IJBs as we allocate further NHS resources across services in the coming year between delegated and non-delegated functions. I would expect that further investment will be required in specific areas such as unscheduled care and in medicines, and you will be updated as progress is made on these issues.



I look forward to working with you in the coming year as we continue to work together to identify and action opportunities to develop health service delivery within available resources across your IJB.

Yours sincerely

16- Cold Inth

Susan Goldsmith Director of Finance

cc Chief Finance Officer Enc



APPENDIX 1

			2019/20	2020/21	2021/22	2022/23	2023/24
	Status	Allocation	East Lothian £'000				
Baseline Budget 19/20	Delegated	Core	56,085	57,909	58,769	59,211	59,664
		GMS	14,737	14,737	14,737	14,737	14,737
		Corporate	441	450	463	470	477
		Hosted	10,245	10,501	10,873	11,070	11,271
	Set Aside		19,108	19,630	20,258	20,608	20,964
Total			100,616	103,227	105,100	106,096	107,113
Additional Budget 18/19							
Pay Uplift			1,296	1,873	996	1,016	1,036
Investment in Prescribing			10				
PC Investment share of £3m	n		360				
Balance of Base Uplift			945				
Share of Base Uplift			2,611	1,873	996	1,016	1,036
Unscheduled Care Investme	ent		825				
Other			62	(867)	(867)	(867)	(867)
			3,498	1,006	129	149	169
Total Budget			104,114	104,233	105,229	106,245	107,282

The baseline budget includes the 16/17 and 17/18 Social Care Fund; Drugs and Alcohol Partnership Funding



REPORT TO:	East Lothian Integration Joint Board
MEETING DATE:	23 May 2019
BY:	Chief Officer
SUBJECT:	IJB Workforce Plan

1 PURPOSE

1.1 To present to the IJB the finalised East Lothian IJB Workforce Plan and associated Action Plan developed in collaboration with relevant partners.

2 **RECOMMENDATIONS**

- 2.1 The IJB is asked to:
 - Note the attached Workforce Plan which has been developed in consultation with NHS Lothian and East Lothian Council partners, and other key stakeholders.
 - Approve the attached East Lothian IJB Workforce Plan and related Action Plan.

3 BACKGROUND

- 3.1 As part of the implementation of the National Health and Social Care Workforce Plan, each Integration Joint Board is required to complete a Workforce Plan.
- 3.2 A key recommendation from the Audit Scotland review of the East Lothian IJB was to develop a Workforce Plan to support the delivery of the East Lothian IJB Strategic Plan within six months of the development of the Strategic Plan.
- 3.3 Over the course of the last 18 months a number of key engagement events were held in order to capture the views of the workforce. These events included an initial workforce planning event for Partnership managers on 4th December 2017 'Planning our Future Workforce'. An Action Plan workshop was also held for managers on 18th January 2019. In the interim period ongoing support was provided to managers to assist

them formulate workforce information for the Plan relevant to their respective services.

- 3.4 The process for developing this Workforce Plan was recently audited and the auditors concluded that of the five assessment control objectives three were assessed as 'significant assurance' and two as 'moderate assurance'.
- 3.5 The East Lothian IJB Workforce Plan aims to ensure strategic plans have sufficient staff with the appropriate skills, to meet the current and future needs of the East Lothian population.
- 3.6 East Lothian Health and Social Care Partnership attended a Lothian wide workforce planning collaboration event on 9th May. It was proposed that Chief Officers from the four Lothian Partnerships progress through ongoing collaboration four related work streams –General Medical Services implementation; Digital Enablement; Recruitment and Retention (including with third and independent sector providers); Learning and Development.

4 ENGAGEMENT

- 4.1 The development of this plan was undertaken with:
 - Heads of Service
 - Managers
 - Human Resources
 - Organisational Development
 - Trades Unions
 - Workforce Planning and Development

5 POLICY IMPLICATIONS

5.1 A developed and skilled workforce is required to deliver the East Lothian IJB Strategic Plan 2019-22 and will contribute to the National Health and Social Care Workforce Plan.

6 INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT

6.1 The subject of this report will go through the Integrated Impact Assessment process

7 DIRECTIONS

7.1 The East Lothian IJB Workforce Plan is relevant to Direction 17a which requires the IJB to review its Strategic Plan and to finalise a supporting Financial Plan and Workforce Plan.

8 **RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS**

- 8.1 Financial This workforce plan will have close links to the EL IJB Strategic Plan 2019-22 and the Financial Plan.
- 8.2 Personnel More detailed workforce plans will be developed as part of individual service plans which will detail proposals relating to the redesign of teams and services.
- 8.3 Other None.

9 BACKGROUND PAPERS

- 9.1 East Lothian IJB Workforce Plan 2019-22
- 9.2 East Lothian IJB Workforce Plan Year 1 Action Plan 2019-20

AUTHOR'S NAME	Bryan Davies
DESIGNATION	Group Service Manager
CONTACT INFO	bdavies@eastlothian.gov.uk
DATE	20 May 2019



EAST LOTHIAN IJB WORKFORCE PLAN (DRAFT v15)

Contents	Page
Executive Summary	2
Scope of the Workforce Plan	3
Objectives of the Workforce Plan	3
Integrated Joint Board Vision, Strategic Aims, Objectives and Values	4
Key Priorities for Action	5
Financial Context	9
East Lothian Demographics and Workforce Profile	9
Workforce Planning and Development	23
Impact Assessment	27
Engagement and Consultation	27
Monitoring and Evaluation	28
Appendix	28

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The changing nature of adult health and social care is complex and our aim is to consider what changes will make the greatest difference to outcomes for patients, service users and carers. As a Partnership we will seek to ensure that our workforce is motivated, knowledgeable and skilled and able to respond to the changes we envisage.

The workforce has to be equipped to support and implement approaches and interventions that actively seek to improve health and reduce inequalities. This is a shared responsibility of the entire workforce across all services.

The workforce equate to between 15 and 20% of all expenditure in East Lothian HSCP. The age profile of our health care workforce means that many will be retiring over the next 10–15 years, particularly health visitors and midwives. Without action now this has the potential to lead to shortages in the number of trained staff, but more likely to a shortage of experienced staff to take on leadership and supervisory roles. In social care, the workforce is also getting older while the range of ages is widening. There are similar issues in relation to experienced staff retiring in the next 10-15 years.

A further challenge is aligning the skills of our workforce, now and in the future, with the needs of patients and service users. There is a growing awareness that the current workforce is not well matched to needs and demands, and the training pipeline, particularly of doctors, may exacerbate these problems.

It has been predicted that, by 2020, as the workforce ages, the NHS is likely to have an oversupply of hospital doctors but a shortfall in the number of GPs. We have also yet to see a significant shift from acute to community sector based working, particularly in the numbers of nurses working in the community.

The broad reach of health and social care integration includes relationships beyond traditional NHS and local authority providers. The majority of social care services, for example, are delivered by the independent sector and integration of services is as relevant and important for them as it is for wider public services such as housing and leisure.

The independent sector is the largest social services employer in Scotland as a whole and 45% of the care delivery workforce in East Lothian is employed in this way. They have a pivotal role in supporting care at home and in care homes and the contribution and participation of the sector in service planning is fully recognised.

Nonetheless, social care as a vocation has sometimes been viewed as demanding but low paid, and recruitment and retention challenging. We face a potential crisis in the provision of care and support services over the coming years, with a growing population of older people but with fewer people coming into a labour market that is increasingly competitive.

This has already led at times to challenges in ensuring care and resources are focused on getting the services that meet people's needs across some areas of the county. Addressing this will be a key enabler in delivering our strategic change programme.

The IJB Workforce Plan acknowledges that Social Work delivers services to a variety of clients often with specific statutory duties attached. This workforce – specifically, criminal justice and mental health officers - have very different requirements than those workers within the social care field.

To ensure we meet our statutory and policy requirements, mandatory and statutory training has to be embedded within services to ensure our workforce is meeting legislative and policy requirements. We have to ensure that there are robust arrangements in place in both the Council and NHS to identify and address current and emergent development needs as well as to deliver and track completion of mandatory and statutory training. Consequently, learning & development plans for our regulated workforce need to be clearly linked to continuous professional development. Central to our workforce plan is the provision of regular supervision. This enables support and guidance for professional practice and practitioner professional development through the assessment of competencies, knowledge, skills and value- based practice.

Our workforce is our most valuable asset and one which we need to continue to develop and promote. To help us plan for future needs and demands, we will actively seek to promote health and social care as a career of choice.

1. SCOPE of WORKFORCE PLAN

The purpose and scope of this workforce plan is based on service needs. It aims to ensure that East Lothian IJB strategically plans to have sufficient staff (health and social care), with the appropriate skills, to meet the current and future needs of the East Lothian population.

This is the first East Lothian IJB workforce plan and future plans will build on and improve on this foundation.

Our workforce is key to delivering our services and in scope for this plan are:

The East Lothian Partnership has two parts. The Integration Joint Board (IJB) which sets strategy, issues directions to partners for delivery and monitors performance against delivery and the Health and Social Care Partnership (HSCP) which focuses on delivery of NHS and Council services and supports the IJB. The services in the HSCP are not the same as the services delegated to the IJB. The services in scope include all services delegated to the IJB and those in the HSCP.

In addition NHS Lothian and East Lothian Council remain the employers of staff in the partnership and both have detailed workforce plans. As a result this plan does not duplicate the detail of these plans, but builds on these to address common issues across the partnership.

This workforce plan is informed by and informs workforce planning undertaken by partnership managers as they develop and review their service strategic plans.

2. OBJECTIVES of THE WORKFORCE PLAN

In East Lothian we start from a strong base - there is a collective recognition of the need to change how we work across social care, community and acute providers. In collaboration with all our partners and stakeholders the Health and Social Care Partnership now aims to ensure that the workforce of tomorrow, both paid and voluntary, are knowledgeable and skilled and able to respond to the changes outlined in the East Lothian Strategic Plan.

To meet these challenges and deliver the vision for health and social care across the lifespan we expect the workforce to continue to diversify. They will be employed by individual employers, small to medium enterprises and large organisations across the NHS, local authority, voluntary and independent sectors, as well as in local communities. The continued transformation of our care delivery will also result in a workforce that is deployed in a wider range of ways, including through integration with health, social care and, potentially in time, other public sector team arrangements.

Our workforce will:

- have the skills, knowledge, experience and motivation to deliver the highest quality services.
- be flexible and adaptable around our changing organisational needs
- be resilient to change and instigate, as well as adapt to, changes in service delivery
- work in an increasingly integrated way across the Partnership

- celebrate professional roles including professional specialisms and synergies
- be a workforce that delivers with an emphasis on quality
- be a workforce supported to deliver quality services in the most efficient way

3. IIJB VISION, STRATEGIC AIMS, OBJECTIVES & VALUES

Integrated Joint Board Vision

Adult social care and health services in East Lothian will enable all adults to live the lives they want as well as possible, achieving their potential to live independently and exercising choice over the services they use.

Best health, best care, best value for our communities

- Best health the health and wellbeing gap across East Lothian: if we fail to get serious about prevention then recent progress in healthy life expectancy will stall, health inequalities will widen and our ability to fund new treatments will be affected by the need to spend budget on avoidable illness or ill health.
- Best care the care and quality gap: unless we reshape care delivery and drive down variation in quality, people's changing needs will go unmet and unacceptable variation in outcomes will persist.
- Best value the funding and efficiency gap: if we fail to match funding levels with wide-ranging and, at times, controversial system efficiencies, this will impact on services, staff, and deficits

Strategic Aims / Objectives

Our strategic aims are about ensuring that services:

- are joined-up for service-users
- take account of the particular needs of individual service-users and their circumstances in different parts
 of the county
- respect our service-users' rights and take account of their dignity
- take account of the way that our service-users participate in their communities
- protect and improve our service-users' safety
- improve the quality of our services and ensure that they are planned and delivered locally in a way that is engaged with our communities
- anticipate needs and prevent them from happening
- make the best use of the available facilities, people and other resources.
- will work with others to improve health and wellbeing in justice settings, focusing on mental health and substance use
- will work to quickly identify offenders and ensure responses are proportionate, just, effective and promote rehabilitation

Our Strategic objectives are:

- To make universal services more accessible and proportionate to need and to develop our communities. We want to improve access to our services, but equally to help people and communities to help and support themselves too.
- To improve prevention and early intervention. We want to shift and focus services towards the
 prevention of ill health, to anticipate at an early stage the need for support and to react where possible to
 prevent crises.
- To reduce unscheduled care. We want to reduce unnecessary demand for services including hospital care.
- To provide care closer to home. We want to deliver safe and effective care as close to home as possible, allowing people to remain in their homes and communities for as long as they can.
- To deliver services within an integrated care model. We recognise the need to make people's journey through all our services smoother and more efficient.
- To enable people to have more choice and control. We recognise the importance of person centred and outcomes focused care planning.
- To further optimise efficiency and effectiveness. We want to improve the quality of our services whilst recognising and addressing the challenging financial constraints we face.
- To reduce health inequalities. We want to reduce inequalities, break the cycle and impact of deprivation and support and protect the vulnerable in our communities.

- To build and support partnership working. We recognise the importance of developing effective and wide ranging strategic partnerships in delivering our ambition, vision and values.
- To reduce crime within our community by focussing our efforts on prevention and are working with partners to target the underlying causes of crime, including poverty and inequality.

Values

The values that will underpin delivery of the Integration Joint Board's vision and outcomes are:

• To give people control over what happens to them is in itself promoting good health and wellbeing. We will seek to maximise people's control over their lives as an integral part of the safe, caring and respectful services we provide

• It is better to prevent health and social problems than to deal with them once they have occurred. We will focus our attention and resources on prevention and early intervention.

• Some people's social and economic circumstances lead to them having poorer health, wellbeing and life chances than others. We will work to tackle these inequalities by focusing our efforts on those at greatest risk and being mindful of individuals' choices.

• It is right to offer people services as close to home as safe and practicable.

• We will promote working in partnership.

• In a single health and social care economy for East Lothian we will invest our resources wherever they will have the greatest impact on meeting our shared objectives.

• We will recognise the interdependencies of services and will take a holistic approach to service provision, respectfully considering each individual in the context of their circumstances.

• We will value the views of people who use our services.

• We will value the diversity of East Lothian. We will work closely with our communities to ensure they can contribute to the health and wellbeing of the population.

Equality

The Integration Joint Board and all our partners will strive to encourage equal opportunities and human rights, responding to the different needs and service requirements of people regardless of age, disability, gender re-assignment, marriage and civil partnership, (restricted to elimination of unlawful discrimination in employment) pregnancy and maternity, race, religion and belief, sex and sexual orientation.

4. KEY PRIORITIES FOR ACTION

Key priorities for East Lothian are focussing on:

- Delivering more care closer to home actively tackling the rise in unplanned or avoidable hospital admissions, and significantly reducing delayed discharges from hospitals to home or a homely setting
- Addressing the variation in the use and delivery of health and social care services across the county and tackling inequality
- Developing a strong focus on prevention and "low level" support
- Ensuring best value for the public purse through more effective partnership working
- Supporting people to care for themselves and supporting carers in their caring role
- Ensuring we meet our statutory requirements for some of the most vulnerable people in our community

SERVICE DELIVERY AREAS

Older People and Access Service

The workforce within this service will ensure that:

- Fewer older people will experience delayed discharge from hospital in line with the Scottish Government target of no delays over two weeks.
- Integrated service redesign for the ELSIE services is implemented which is staffed by both health and social care services.
- Steps are taken to improve anticipatory care plans in line with Scottish Government guidance.
- All unpaid carers are offered a carers assessment.
- People diagnosed with dementia and their carers receive post diagnostic support in line with the dementia strategy.
- Older people receive timely needs assessment and service provision.
- Older people receive timely reviews of their care and support.
- Self Directed Support is fully implemented being offered at initial assessment and review stages.
- Increased and more effective Independent and Third Sector collaboration is promoted.
- There is effective multi-agency service provision and common application of risk/eligibility thresholds.

Adult Statutory and Adult Community Resources

The workforce within this service will ensure that:

- The Health and Social Care Partnership structure is realigned with related management roles and responsibilities.
 - There is improved use of the Care at Home Provider framework.
- A service review of Care at Home and Adult Statutory Services (Social Work and Mental Health Officer Teams) is completed. This will be done in parallel to the service review within Older Adults and Access. There will be a need to focus on staff consultation as a priority.
- Prevention and early intervention is improved by increasing numbers of Council Officers.
- Within Community Resources services are being reviewed and redesigned to promote fully integrated services which are flexible and responsive to ensure that people can access the right support at the right time closer to home.
- Supported people are enabled to have more choice and control by reducing waiting times for assessment, auditing Self Directed Support assessment, budget setting and support planning processes.

- The Personal budget model is implemented.
- Training regarding outcomes and personal budget model is undertaken.
- Care is provided closer to home by developing cluster models of housing support and by supporting people to return to their home areas where appropriate.
- Young people's transition from Education and Children's Services are timely, best value and delivered through outcomes based plans for school leavers.
- There is improved budget management and accurate monitoring and forecasting.
- There is improved support to carers through implementation of the East Lothian Carers Strategy, Carers Support Plans and personal budgets.
- They are better able to provide support to Adults with Incapacity through increasing capacity within the statutory Mental Health Team to meet statutory requirements and timescales under the Adults with Incapacity Act. This includes increasing the numbers of Mental Health Officers.
- Participate in a review of Adult Statutory Services including Adult Social Work Assessment and the Mental Health Officer Team.
- Partnership working is supported through implementation of the Community Justice Local Outcome Improvement Plan.
- Partnership working is also supported through increased and improved use of Criminal Justice unpaid work placements.
- There is improved use of community interventions and programmes in particular diversion from prosecution, bail schemes and voluntary throughcare.
- Targeted interventions are monitored and assessed and risk of individuals future offending is considered.
- There are improved employability opportunities for people with convictions including access to the recovery college.
- There are improved emergency rest centre arrangements.
- A Mental Health Strategy is developed for East Lothian.
- East Lothian is appropriately engaged with the development of the Royal Edinburgh Hospital campus and opportunities to develop services as locally as possible within East Lothian.
- Flexible and responsive Community Mental Health Team service is developed and integrated to ensure people can access the right support at the right time closer to home. The prevention of hospital admission and support for early discharge is prioritised.
- The delivery of older adults community based mental health services are redesigned.
- The East Lothian Dementia Strategy is developed and implemented.
- There are improved synergies between Mental Health and substance misuse support.
- The numbers of adults in mental health services experiencing delayed discharge are reduced.
- They support the delivery of the range of services within the Alcohol and Drugs Partnership in East Lothian.
- They support the implementation of the Recovery Orientated System of Care.

- Fewer supported people with Learning and Physical Disability are delayed in hospital.
- Development of a fully dedicated and integrated Learning Disability service which will streamline pathways and processes create increased capacity and reduce waiting times. This will improve quality and service delivery with the opportunity to create efficiencies. This will also provide the opportunity to align the service under one management structure.
- Review and redesign all community day supports for people with a disability or mental health problems. Opportunity to reshape how services are structured and delivered.
- There is improved community provision for people with a disability.
- The Shared Lives service is redesigned. Work underway to develop model to offer cost effective short breaks and day opportunities by recruiting new Shared Lives carers offering support for service users within a home/family setting.
- A strategic planning group for Disability services is redesigned.
- An integrated Strategy for people with Physical Disability and Sensory impairment will be developed.
- Increased employment opportunities for people with a disability are promoted.
- Contribute to the review of transport provision.
- Health inequalities are reduced and there is an emphasis on better health improvement.
- Community engagement is improved
- Service delivery is improved through commissioned services.
- There is improved awareness of issues relating to Adult Support and Protection, Criminal Justice, Mental Health and Challenging Behaviour.
- There is improved transitions planning.
- There is improved housing allocation.

Planning and Performance

The workforce within this service will ensure that:

- The restructuring of the Planning and Performance service is completed.
- The Planning and Performance management team is established.
- Gatekeeping mechanisms for receiving requests for Planning and Performance support are developed.
- Project monitoring is consistently undertaken.
- They deliver a project management/change management/transformational management approach to Planning and Performance support.
- Internal and commissioned provision is effectively monitored and reviewed.
- Administrative review is conducted to assess opportunities to centralise services e.g. Care Home Administration.

5. FINANCIAL CONTEXT

In terms of operational delivery it is envisaged that the Health and Social Care Partnership will largely be the delivery model for the delegated functions working on the broad premise that any service that can be managed by the Partnership should be managed by the Partnership.

The financial context is simple. Demand for health and social care services is increasing and the financial (and staffing) resources to deliver health and social care services are decreasing. Demand is driven by improvements in medical technology, increased patient expectation and demographic changes and the UK government's policy of constraining public expenditure has reduced the financial resources available. It is also important to note that health and social care is facing serious staff shortages-for example it is very difficult to recruit General Practitioners and Social Care Workers.

The key themes underpinning the financial strategy are:

- Prioritising the allocation of resources.
- Making more efficient use of resources.
- A move from failure demand to prevention.
- A move from hospital care or care homes to community based services
- A move to improved quality and access.
- A move from working in silos to team working.
- A move from reactive to anticipatory care planning.

The Management teams will now have to construct operational budgets that fit the resources expressed in the programmes and this will give them the opportunity to redesign their services based on the principles that the IJB has articulated in its Financial Strategy.

The current budget for the Partnership is broken down as follows.

Partnership total	49,930,208
Access & Older People	24,303,159
Adult Services	19,640,147
Planning & Directorate	5,986,902

6. EAST LOTHIAN DEMOGRAPHICS & WORKFORCE PROFILE

IJB Population & Projected Changes*

The population of East Lothian was estimated to be 103,050 in 2015

East Lothian has a higher proportion of older and younger people than the Scottish average.

The number of people aged over 65 is forecast to grow by 72% between 2012 and 2037 and the number of 0-15 year olds is projected to increase by 27.5% over the same period.

The population of East Lothian is forecast to grow at one of the fastest rates of all 32 local authorities in Scotland.

The number of young adults aged 16-24 increased by 35.8% between the 2001 and 2011 census dates. Whereas this figure was only 9.2% for Scotland as a whole.

There were an estimated 44,384 households in East Lothian in 2015.

The number of households is projected to grow by 23.8% between 2015 and 2037 compared to a growth of 14.3% in Scotland.

The main component of the increase in the number of households is forecast to be a large increase in the number of households containing one adult.

The number of households in which the head of household is aged over 75 is forecast to double between 2012 and 2037.

More people have arrived in East Lothian than have left causing positive net migration over the last decade.

(*East Lothian by Numbers: A Statistical Profile of East Lothian" East Lothian Partnership 2016)

Our Workforce

The dimensions and characteristics of our existing workforce as at March 2018 is set out below. East Lothian used **1332.15** (including supplementary staffing) covering all job families at a cost of **£22.66 m** per year.



Note: Grand Total – 626.15


Note: Grand Total - 706



Note: Grand Total - 1332.15







Note: Grand Total – 1332.15











Note: Grand Total Private – 1230 and Voluntary - 1220





Demographic Changes

Demographic change within our workforce, particularly in Health, is one of the most significant drivers for service change and redesign and the following graphs show how this change is becoming evident in East Lothian. The HSCP will require to develop new roles, new ways of working and recruitment and retention strategies in order to avoid the loss of a significant proportion of the workforce over the next 5 to 10 years.

The graphs above illustrate the dimensions of change in the East Lothian workforce. Of particular note is the increasing number of staff in the 55-64 years age range who will imminently need to be replaced and workforce recruitment and development programmes accelerated or initiated.

Workforce Challenges

• General Practice

Over the last 10 years the profile of the GP workforce has changed significantly. There are now more female GPs than males and in East Lothian the proportion of GPs who are part-time is increasing. Demographic change within the GP workforce is also a key factor as the majority of GPs (55%) are aged over 45 years old - the majority of females are aged under 45 and the majority of males are approximately 48 years old. Where gaps arise they are typically partners and these posts can be unattractive given the predominance of part-time working.

A revised national GMS contract was introduced in April 2018 with a phased implementation over 3 years to March 2021. The resulting Primary Care Improvement Plan to support this highlights significant growth and development of the MDT team required to achieve the reduction in GP workload recommended in Section 4.

Health Visiting

The Health Visiting (HV) workforce will require to increase in East Lothian to ensure compliance with the Named Person and Child Statutory Planning Service legislation introduced from August 2017 and to accommodate recent changes in the HV pathway by the SGHD which indicate that an all Health Visitor model will prevail.

At the same time there is significant risk associated with the ageing of the HV workforce – 54% of Band 6 HVs in East Lothian are aged over 50 years of age (9.0 WTE). Most HVs have retained NHS 'special status' and therefore could potentially retire at 55. This, together with growth in the East Lothian population through increasing housing and incoming families in East Lothian and recognition of the caseload complexity has increased the HV requirement.

The impact of this is currently being experienced in East Lothian with a B6 HV Establishment gap of approximately 16.6%(3.3WTE) across health visiting and it will remain challenging to meet the requirement for HVs going forward.

School Nursing

A national School Nursing Group sponsored by the Scottish Nurse Directors Group was established to develop a School Nursing pathway. The group identified nine care areas that school nurses shall work within, delivering a more individual and caseload based approach to care. These are: emotional health and wellbeing; substance misuse; child protections; domestic abuse; looked after children; homelessness; youth justice; young carers; transitions

The new pathway and the caseload approach to working by school nurses aims to reduce inequalities and to allow children and young people to progress through their school years on a more positive trajectory into adult life.

The requirement is to grow the school nursing workforce in Lothian to address existing shortages within the financial envelope and there has been support to train additional staff.

District Nursing

District Nursing is also facing significant demographic challenges in East Lothian with 72% (9.7WTE) of B6 district nurses over the age of 50 years. The percentage gap (vacancies) for B6 District Nursing is 19.4% (3.2WTE) for District Nursing B5+ the establishment gap is 4.1% (1.9 WTE). A larger establishment gap is found when comparing all Band 5+ Nursing posts across East Lothian 12.2% (39.1WTE). The national review

of District Nursing will inform the strategic direction and may make recommendations in relation to caseloads, as happened with Health Visiting.

To enable delivery of the IJB strategic aims and objectives, East Lothian continues to develop new models of care, including anticipatory care / hospital at home schemes and ELSIE (East Lothian Service Improvement for the Elderly) is now well established. These models are dependent on district nurses developing advanced clinical skills as well as decision making skills and independent prescribing.

East Lothian has also developed innovative services, in conjunction with council colleagues to facilitate earlier discharge from hospital, providing nursing and social care packages ahead of the formal Social Work provision.

General Practice Nursing

General practice nurses (PN) are largely employed by independent GP practices and are an integral part of the practice workforce. As with the other nursing groups, there is a significant risk of reduction in this key workforce due to retirals in the next 5 years, at a time when the demand for PNs in increasing. This will represent a significant challenge for GP practices.

The PN workforce has typically been long serving and attracted experienced staff from acute settings, there has however not been a career structure in place that would allow for a greater mix of skills and experience. The development of the GP nurse is currently under development and aims to offer a more coherent pathway for the progression of nurses in this area.

AHPs

There is a need to develop Advanced Practitioner posts in Physiotherapy and Occupational Therapy. The roles of these practitioners would include the provision of musculoskeletal services in primary care and also in primary care pharmacy posts. They would also assist with developing new ways of working across health and social care services. The aim will be to ensure health and social care teams work as one team which will increase capacity and deliver smoother pathways of care in the rehabilitation model.

Develop a strategy for 3rd sector partnership working with agencies e.g. British Heart Foundation, Chest Heart and Stroke, and Enjoy Leisure.

Social Workers

Recruitment and retention of Social Workers is currently challenging due partly to new recruits normally being placed at the bottom of the pay scale. It places existing workers under greater pressure in having to supervise a growing number of newly qualified staff. We need to enhance levels of training and supervision within supervisory lines.

The Scottish Social Services Council is carrying out a review of post qualifying learning for Social Workers. This is a recommendation within the National Health and Social Care Workforce Plan Part 2. We will need to respond to any additional requirements for a new post qualifying framework to ensure our Social Workers in the workforce have appropriate professional development and career development opportunities.

Criminal Justice Social Workers

This professional group access national training in relation to risk assessments; sex offender intervention work; and domestic abuse. Co-ordination of this is crucial to ensure we have a fully trained and informed staff team.

• Mental Health Officers

We are presently 50 per cent below the required level of MHO's per head of the East Lothian population. In order to address this we need to accelerate the current 'grow our own' MHO training programme for existing workers while addressing the consequent reduction in experienced staff from the generic Adults Social Work team who take up this career development opportunity.

Social Care Assistants

Due to the increasingly ageing workforce especially in Home Care services we need to attract younger recruits. This will require reviewing service models which is already underway and considering innovative approaches to attracting new workers including trainee schemes and apprenticeships.

In common with Social Workers the Social Care workforce is subject to a review of learning and development being undertaken on behalf of the Scottish Government by the Scottish Social Services Council as part of

the National Health and Social Care Workforce Plan Part 2. A new professional learning and development framework for Social Care is being created. This will have implications for the professional development of the Social Care workforce.

Small / Specialist Services

The McMillan Nursing Service is provided by a small nursing team who like many other community nursing teams have an ageing workforce. Two of the three nurse specialists including the manager are due to retire in the next 12 months. Succession planning has commenced and a new staffing model is currently being looked at including augmenting the team with a new Band 4 post.

• Multi Disciplinary Team Development

East Lothian Health and Social Care Partnership is developing innovative approaches to creating additional capacity in the primary care team. Different models of working are being introduced in primary care. One example is the Collaborative Working for Immediate Care (CWIC) Service; a multi-disciplinary team comprising Advanced Nursing, Physio and OT roles. The team absorbs a significant amount of same day demand from general practice, providing patients quick access to a high quality service and ensuring they see the right person, in the right place at the right time. The CWIC service also acts as a training hub, recruiting staff into training posts and providing a supportive learning environment for them to complete qualifications and gain invaluable work experience. This is vital as the new GP contract rolls out over the coming years and the demand for these advanced roles increases across the county. Work is also underway to ensure support from pharmacy is extended and partnership working with our third sector colleagues will increase, providing services such as Links Workers, ensuring we are in a position to meet the demands of our patients both now and in the future.

• Recruitment and Retention

We can see that there are consistent issues across most of the aforementioned professional groups that present a challenge for the Partnership. Firstly the need to recruit urgently to fill impending gaps due to the ageing workforce. In addition the need to develop further career structures and pathways for example in General Practice Nursing and in Social Care to recruit and retain staff. Also grading at the lowest point on the pay scale for Social Workers and OT's has led to difficulties in recruiting experienced staff. Consequently existing staff in these professions are supervising a relatively high number of inexperienced individuals.





Workforce Recruitment 2016 to 2018 (East Lothian Partnership: NHS Lothian)

Workforce Recruitment 2016 to 2018 (East Lothian Partnership: NHS Lothian)



Workforce Leavers (ELC) (202	L7/2018)	Workforce Leaver Reasons (ELC) (2	2017/2018)
HS Access & Older People	39	Dismissal	
Access & Rehabilitation	10	Ongoing Care	1
Assess & Supp Planning	2	End of Contract	
Ongoing Care	27	Access & Rehabilitation	5
HS Adults	11	Ongoing Care	
Adult Community Resource	3	Planning & Performance	5
Adult Social Work	8	Resignation Non Teaching	
HS Planning & Perf	9	Access & Rehabilitation	2
Planning & Performance	9	Adult Community Resource	2
Total	59	Adult Social Work	7
		Assess & Supp Planning	2
		Ongoing Care	14
		Planning & Performance	3
		Retirement	
		Access & Rehabilitation	3
		Adult Community Resource	1
		Adult Social Work	1
Ongoi		Ongoing Care	4
		Planning & Performance	1
		Total	59

• Attendance

Sickness Absence by Department HSCP (ELC)					
April 2015-March 2016 % Absence	April 2016-March 2017 % Absence	April 2017-March 2018 % Absence			
8.48	7.40	8.64			

	Sickness
Directorate	Absence Rate
Adults And Children	4.9%
East Lothian Gms	4.6%
El Part Comm Svcs Older People	6.5%
Strategic Planning	5.5%



7. WORKFORCE PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT

What Workforce do we want to have?

- We want a learning workforce where quality of care and learning is core to what staff do, training is given a level of priority and staff find it motivating
- We want to find our common language and common "givens" to build on the things that bind us together
- We want a workforce who are clear about their roles and where they are empowered to bring benefit to clients/patients through flexibility and synergies
- We want a workforce that understands all aspects of the client/patient journey through health and social care

- We want a workforce that is an early intervention asset trained and knowledgeable about how to manage care early to mitigate and prevent complexity / admission
- We want a workforce that supports and delivers prevention strategies across all client groups and supports people in gaining and maintaining independence
- We want to orientate to a competency / skills based workforce rather than one that is boundaried by profession/qualifications/registration
- We want to recruit for career (not just a job), to have career pathways and to provide local
 opportunity for staff to self navigate those career pathways
- We want to retain staff, reducing unnecessary turnover by providing support at all career stages
- We want to plan and manage our workforce age profile and not be defined by it and to succession plan so that our wisdom and experience are held in the organisation rather than by individuals.
- We want to invest in our front line managers at all levels so they have the required skills and tools to manage services operationally releasing Service Managers to review and develop services.

What do we have to build on?

- Unique contribution made by each profession within the Health and Social Care Partnership.
- We have experience of planning and implementing innovative models that work (e.g. multidisciplinary team working, 7 day working) and could be adapted for implementation more widely.
- More innovation and change is already planned that will provide opportunity e.g. new GMS contract, development of non-medical staff roles, new Community Hospital, increased profile of modern and foundation apprenticeships, National CSO review
- We have good competencies and skills already, have access to good training options, and have an
 understanding of the competencies and skills we will need more of to deliver the models of care in
 the future
- Work is well forward re developing learning and training frameworks for some areas
- The NHS has good workload management tools to enable planning of the workforce and can share the methodologies with social care. Useful tools are also available within East Lothian Council and through SSSC the main professional registration body for social care. Many of these relate to acute services and workload management tool required to support community based services.
- In many areas staff are very keen to integrate to work as "one" team they are motivated, committed and have the energy for it
- We have tools, or are developing them, to enable flexibility such as job passport, rotations, job swaps.
- East Lothian has a mixed community so is an interesting place to work and an attractive place to live and we have social media access already to enable us to "tell our story" widely to attract staff
- Enhance service delivery within current resource.

What challenges will we need to meet?

- Making roles part of attractive career pathways <u>and</u> efficient use of resources will need review, rebalance and refocus of roles - skill mix, registered / non registered, consistency in registration, HSCP/ 3rd Sector/ Volunteers
- The timelines to train our workforce for the competencies and skills we will need is out of sync with demand so will continue to need detailed forecasting, planning and budgeting
- Change will be ever present so we need to increasing our capacity and capability to lead and manage change well, while carrying on with the day job
- Closing the gaps re shortages of staff will need safe and effective workarounds until we can either attract and recruit or train the growth we need – particularly in Health
- Supporting an ageing workforce (who are caring for an ageing population) to look after their health and well being so that we have good attendance of permanent staff to provide consistent, high quality care
- Getting the right IT systems, kit and skills that truly enable mobile working and communication across different organisations, to release the time, attention and energy of staff for patients / clients
- Creating cohesion in one workforce with two employers two cultures, two sets of Ts and Cs, different pay systems
- Financial environment is very challenging and the effect of Brexit unknown

Where do we have sustainability challenges in our workforce?

- GPs The existing national shortage of GPs and the trend towards medical graduates not selecting general practice as a career has severely limited the number of GPs available to maintain a stable workforce. Many practices are over dependent on locum GPs. In addition increasing workload is having and adverse effect on the number of GPs remaining in the profession.
- Nursing Advanced Nurse Practitioners and Nurse Practitioners-These new roles require ongoing investment in post-registration training and in providing relevant experience. There is a risk that the growth of ANP and NP posts in non-hospital settings will cause shortages of nursing staff in other settings. There is currently a shortage of mental health nursing staff within East Lothian due to recruitment difficulties. This is exacerbated through an ageing workforce with consequent risks in maintaining service delivery. Mental Health nursing services also require investment regarding leadership and post graduate qualifications for experienced practitioners regarding the Advanced Nurse Practitioner role. We have a high number of nurses due to retire over the next couple of years.
- Social Workers Registered Social workers need to be employed in specific roles and for specific tasks. Professional training needs to be maintained to ensure workers meet professional registration requirements. Human resource practice to recruit at bottom of pay scale results in recruitment of newly qualified staff not experienced staff. Consequently this means enhanced levels of training and supervision required within supervisory lines. This also impacts on the number of Council Officers as experience required to do this role.
- MHO's MHO's have specific statutory duties to carry out. Appropriate training is required to ensure workers are kept abreast of developments including legislative changes. Within East Lothian the current MHO team is under resourced as the guidelines advise there should be 1 MHO per 10,000 of the population. Currently there are only 5.5 MHO's which is 50 per cent below advised MHO numbers for the population. We have taken the decision to recruit from within the Council. Whilst this offers a clear professional progression it leads to pressures in other areas of the service as those wanting to pursue MHO status need to be experienced workers.
- Social CareStaff that work within Social Care who are not registered as a Social Worker but
registered with SSSC or in the process of registration. This is an ageing workforce
especially within Home Care. We need to attract a younger workforce but currently
limited by recruitment arrangements and service model.
Community Care Workers work within the statutory framework to provide a range of
activities to support individuals to live at home. There is no requirement at present
for SSSC registration. Given the developing role of CCWs within the Partnership,
further work is required to provide an appropriate training and career pathway, to
capitalise on the skills and experience of this part of the workforce.
- Council Officers As we develop our Workforce Plan we would want the Council Officer role to be embedded across a number of professional roles. This would be within the confines of the legislation.
- AHP Advanced Physiotherapy Practitioner posts need to be developed to provide musculoskeletal services in primary care, similarly primary care pharmacy posts need to be developed to extend this role. Work is needed to attract and develop staff with these enhanced roles .Advanced Practitioners in Physiotherapy and Occupational Therapy can be seen in new roles supporting primary care in new ways of working.
 Health and Social Care teams working as one team increases capacity and smoother pathways of care in the rehabilitation model. Joint AHP training and competencies will ensure quality services and equity of care across East Lothian.
 Medical Psychiatry-There is currently a deficit in the provision of consultants with gaps being
 - filled on a part time basis by retired staff. Psychology- Staffing shortages within Community Mental Health and Substance Misuse services.

• Planning & Performance

Project managers required with the skills to be able to support a project from commencement to completion. Requirement for additional change managers skilled in bringing stakeholders with the change process.

Learning and Development Officers severe capacity issues in responding to the increasing demands from the Health and Social Care Partnership. There is a need to review the Learning and Development workforce across all departments within the Partnership and with partner agencies to ensure that it is adequately resourced and coordinated.

What can we do?

- o Leadership
 - Ensure we have a framework describing what leadership is in East Lothian HSCP
 - Use current resources to map out the behaviours, values and knowledge for leadership and show where leaders can get learning, training and experience to support them
 - Identify current and future leaders and ensure they are nurtured and have support to develop
 - Develop Collaborative Leadership approaches to address the significant HSCP challenges.

• Workforce Planning and Development

- Utilise the new workforce planning platform being developed for HSCP by Scottish Government/ Information Services Division for Intel.
- Cascade workforce planning to service level to measure the gaps i.e. wte by job type, assess the strategies we have for closing the gaps, and to forecast the future competences and skills which the HSCP will need in view of the demographics, in particular the ageing workforce.
- Collate the information with the demand pipeline to give a clear picture of the shortage of wte, skills and competences by service and by job type and influence SG re required numbers.
- Assess where we need to recruit and retain and plan actions for specific groups and identify where we needed to train and retrain to close the gaps. In some areas benchmarking exercises are underway with similar services.
- Look at ways to 'grow our own' staff from the local community and across the employer base.
- Develop a Youth Employment Strategy exploring Modern Apprenticeships, school and college engagement including Foundation Apprenticeships and 'Employer of Choice' offering, reviewing the Borders model of being 'the place to live and work'.
- Further assess the impact of BREXIT on the workforce availability and sustainability.
- Develop support for the 'unpaid workforce' (carers and volunteers) as well as Third and Independent sectors.

• Learning and Development

- Expedite the learning frameworks and focus on mapping out the learning access staff have in both organisations so they can up-skill quickly where we need it
- Map out different types of learning to achieve competence and skills so that staff have choices about how and when they learn – including safe learning on the job if we can't release time for training
- Enabling Careers
 - Set out career pathway options to attract and retain staff including generic Support Worker role.
 - Expedite the development of tools e.g. clinical passport that enable staff to move between roles / areas
 - Refocus recruitment for careers and set out the process(es) when recruiting across both organisations
 - Communicate career options via social media
- Sharing Innovation
 - Enable a way of sharing developments and innovation in East Lothian so managers and staff can bring the ideas and options into their own service areas to test and develop
 - Develop guidance on how to lead and manage the process of innovating and testing change so that managers can work through it step by step with their teams
 - Consider having innovation / change link managers who are knowledgeable about navigating NHSL&ELC for others to consult when needed.

- Role Clarity and Development
 - Clarify freedom to act for staff in current areas of crossover and synergy between roles.
 - From the workforce planning above, put in place an HSCP SLWG to identify the opportunities for reshaping roles and for creating new roles and to option appraise these for patient / client benefit, staff benefit, cost benefit.
 - Prioritise two and do a test of change so that we have both two new or re-focussed roles and a methodology for implementing role change on an ongoing basis.
- o Developing our Digital Strategy
 - IT System set up a working group to develop and cost a phased IT plan for the HSCP designed to meet the needs of staff for future service delivery ensuring remote IT access available for all.
 - Use of social media for recruitment and communication e.g. blogging, tweeting, using Facebook and screens within services.
 - Identify how new technology can be used to promote the professional development of the workforce for example the production of an online learning management system.
- Staff Experience and Engagement
 - Engage staff to bring together HSCP values and ensure all leaders role model them and share them with all staff
 - Develop and implement a quarterly staff letter to share HSCP direction, developments, progress and successes
 - Bring shared language and common "givens" into team leadership and team development so that it builds from the bottom up
 - Bring staff health and well being onto the agenda and support managerial understanding of how to enable it. Develop a shared approach to attendance management across the HSCP so that managers have one process to implement
 - · Implement engagement events twice a year to ensure staff have a direct voice to the SMT
 - Analyse Terms and Conditions across the lead employers and ways to promote the wider benefit packages to facilitate movement within a career pathway.
 - Build the brand of the partnership addressing culture and values to address barriers to effective working. Ensure this is embedded from HSCP induction through to exit interviews for staff.
 - Assess opportunities to work together on staff Health & Wellbeing initiatives including delivery of Occupational Health e.g. Physio services by NHS employees to Council staff to reduce costs.

8. IMPACT ASSESSMENT

To ensure that we are aware of the impact of the workforce plan on all employees and can address any potential issues for specific groups and individuals, an Integrated Impact Assessment will be undertaken

Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) enables us to meet the legal duties to consider equality, human rights, sustainability and the environment in planning and also creates an opportunity to identify and tackle unanticipated impacts for our workforce.

9. ENGAGEMENT AND CONSULTATION

The development of this plan was undertaken with:

- Heads of Service
- Managers
- Human Resources
- Organisational Development
- Trades Unions
- Workforce Planning and Development

10. MONITORING AND EVALUATION

Implementation of this plan will be monitored by the East Lothian Workforce Planning and Development Group and progress will be reported annually to the East Lothian IJB to ensure it continues to align with the Strategic Plan.

Monitoring will be through progress review against our short, medium and long term action plan and assessment against delivery of service priorities and change programmes. Other review tools used will be:

- East Lothian Council staff survey
- the NHS i Matter team feedback
- · feedback from engagement events

APPENDIX 1 POLICY DRIVERS

East Lothian Plan (Single Outcome Agreement) 2013-2023

Three strategic objectives-Sustainable Economy, resilient People and Safe and Vibrant Communities.

The Plan ten high level outcomes which provide a clear vision for East Lothian. Of these two are most relevant to the work of the East Lothian Health and Social Care Partnership.

Outcome 6: In East Lothian we live healthier, more active and independent lives

Outcome 10: East Lothian has stronger, more resilient, supportive, influential and inclusive communities

East Lothian Council Plan

The Council's aim is to create a prosperous, safe and sustainable East Lothian that will allow our people and communities to flourish. To achieve this the Council Plan has four objectives:

Growing our Economy

To increase sustainable economic growth as the basis for a more prosperous East Lothian.

Growing our Communities

To give people a real say in the decisions that matter most and provide communities with the housing, transport links, community facilities and environment that will allow them to flourish.

Growing our People

To give our children the best start in life and protect vulnerable and older people.

Growing the Capacity of our Council

To deliver excellent services as effectively and efficiently as possible within our limited resources.

NHS Lothian Strategic Plan 2014-2024

The Plan " Our Health, Our Care, Our Future 2014-2024" sets out what NHS Lothian proposes to do over the coming decade to address the health needs of a growing and ageing population and to meet the challenges this presents while continuing to provide a high quality, sustainable healthcare system for the people of Lothian.

Key proposals which support the achievement of the Scottish Government vision for health and care by 2020 include:

- To improve the quality of care
- To improve the health of the population
- To provide better value and financial sustainability

National Health and Wellbeing Outcomes

The National Health and Wellbeing outcomes provide a strategic framework for the planning and delivery of health and social care services. This suite of outcomes focuses on improving the experiences and quality of services for people using those services, carers and their families. These outcomes focus on improving how services are provided, as well as, the difference that integrated health and social care services should make, for individuals. The nine Health and Wellbeing Outcomes are:

People are able to look after and improve their own health and wellbeing and live in good health for longer.

People, including those with disabilities or long term conditions, or who are frail, are able to live, as far as reasonably practicable, independently and at home or in a homely setting in their community.

People who use health and social care services have positive experiences of those services, and have their dignity respected.

Health and social care services are centred on helping to maintain or improve the quality of life of people who use those services.

Health and social care services contribute to reducing health inequalities.

People who provide unpaid care are supported to look after their own health and wellbeing, including reducing any negative impact of their caring role on their own health and wellbeing.

People who use health and social care services are safe from harm.

People who work in health and social care services feel engaged with the work they do and are supported to continuously improve the information, support, care and treatment they provide.

Resources are used effectively and efficiently in the provision of health and social care services.

Health and Social Care Delivery Plan

This delivery plan sets out a programme to further enhance health and social care services so that the people of Scotland can live longer, healthier lives at home or in a homely. It aims to ensure that we have a health and social care system that:

- is integrated
- focuses on prevention, anticipation and supported self-management
- will make day-case treatment the norm, where hospital treatment is required and cannot be provided in a community setting
- focuses on care being provided to the highest standards of quality and safety, whatever the setting, with the person at the centre of all decisions
- ensures people get back into their home or community environment as soon as possible with minimal risk of re-admission

Six improvement areas agreed between the Ministerial Steering Group and the Integration authorities which have been developed to measure progress towards health and social care integrated delivery of improved services. While these initial six indicators have a health focus further indicators, with a social care focus, will follow. They are:

- Occupied bed days for unscheduled care
- Unplanned admissions
- Accident and Emergency
- Delayed Discharges
- End of Life Care
- Balance of care spend across institutions and community care services

The National Health and Social Care Workforce Plan

The National Health and Social Care Workforce Plan developed in three distinct parts from 2017 aims to further improve workforce planning across health and social care. Its overall aim is to support organisations which provide health and social care services to identify, develop and put in place the workforce they need to deliver safe and sustainable services to Scotland's people. It sets out new thinking about the health and social care workforce across Scotland, within a framework for wider reform of our health and care systems through the aforementioned Health and Social Care Delivery Plan

East Lothian Health and Social Care Partnership Strategic Plan 2019-2022

The Strategic Plan, agreed by the IJB in March 2019, sets out six priorities for the development and delivery by East Lothian Health and Social Care Partnership of integrated health and social care services, leading to improved outcomes for people across East Lothian. The six priorities of the Plan are:

- primary care
- adults with complex needs
- mental health and substance misuse
- shifting the balance of care
- reprovision programmes
- carers.

Work to deliver these priorities will be set out in an annual delivery plan which will be actioned by six 'Change Boards' focussing on the priority areas. These Change Boards will link to and support the projects and programmes which are delivering our strategic priorities, operational priorities and IJB Directions. All our work will comply with Scottish Government integration planning and delivery principles which require that all services:

• are integrated from the point of view of our service-users

- take account of the particular characteristics and circumstances of different service-users in all settings
- respect the rights of our service-users
- take account of the dignity of our service-users
- take account of the participation by our service-users in the community in which service-users live
- protect and improve the safety of our service-users
- improve the quality of our services
- are planned and led locally in a way which is engaged with our communities
- best anticipates needs and prevents them arising
- make the best use of the available facilities, people and other resources.

Other Policy and Legislative Drivers

- Mental Health Strategy 2017-2027
- Carer's Scotland Act 2016
- o Mental Health (Care and Treatment) (Scotland) Act 2003
- Mental Health (Scotland) Act 2015
- NHS and Community Care Act 1990
- Adult Support and Protection Act 2007
- Adults with Incapacity (Scotland) Act 2000
- Social Work Scotland Act 1968
- o Community Justice Scotland Act
- o Community Justice Local Improvement plan 2017-2020
- o Social Care (Self Directed Support) (Scotland) Act 2013
- National Learning Disability Strategy 2013 'Keys to Life: Improving Quality of Life for People with Learning Disability'
- Suicide Prevention Strategy Scotland 2013-2016
- o Scotland's Suicide Prevention Action Plan 2018: 'Every Life Matters'
- Scotland's National Dementia Strategy 2017-2020
- o Midlothian and East Lothian Drug and Alcohol Partnership Delivery Plan 2015-2018
- o Active independent Living Improvement Programme 2016 (Physical Disabilities)
- 'See Hear' Strategic Framework for meeting the needs of people with a sensory impairment in Scotland 2014
- East Lothian Autism Strategy 2015
- Opportunity and Independence' East Lothian Joint Strategy for People with Physical Disability or Hearing/Sight Loss 2013-2020
- East Lothian Learning Disability Strategy 2013-2018
- Community Empowerment Scotland Act 2015
- Care Inspectorate National Care Standards 2018
- o Children (Scotland) Act 1995
- o Children and Young People (Scotland) Act 2014
- Domestic Abuse (Scotland) Act 2018



Introduction

The East Lothian Health and Social Care Partnership IJB Workforce Plan outlines the key workforce challenges and priorities for the three year period 2019-2022. This first related Action Plan 2019-2020 demonstrates how we are going to address these.

Remit

The Workforce Plan and the Action Plan have been aligned to East Lothian Council and NHS Lothian Workforce Plans and also takes into account developments within the Third and Independent Sectors in East Lothian.

The Workforce Plan and the Action Plan will inform service level workforce planning which will contain much more of the detail behind our overarching workforce priorities covered here.

Governance

The Workforce Plan and the related Action Plan have been approved by the East Lothian Health and Social Care Partnership Integrated Joint Board (IJB). They will be monitored on behalf of the IJB by the Core Management Team through the Partnership Workforce Planning and Organisational Development Group.

Area to Address What can we do?	Outcome	Action	Action Owner	Timescale	Link to- Strategic Objectives New Ways of Working Demographic Change
Leadership	We have a clear framework outlining leadership competencies and related behaviours, values and knowledge linked to key development opportunities to support existing and future leaders in the Partnership.	Design, develop and agree where appropriate using existing resources and tools a leadership framework for the Partnership.	Workforce Planning and OD Group	March 2020	Strategic Plan: Strategic Objectives I and J
		Identify current and future leaders to ensure they get support and development	Director/Managers	December 2019	Strategic Plan: Strategic Objectives I and J
		Develop Collaborative Leadership approaches to address the significant challenges for the Partnership	Workforce Planning and OD Group	March 2020	Strategic Plan: Strategic Objectives I and J
Workforce Planning and Development	We have promoted and implemented a systematic approach to workforce planning and development within all	Utilise the new workforce planning platform being developed for HSCPs by the	Workforce Planning and OD Group	March 2020	Strategic Plan: Strategic Objectives I and J

Partnership services and at all levels fully integrated with workforce planning initiatives at national and local level across all sectors.	Scottish Government, NHS Information Services Division (ISD) and partners for Intel.			
	Cascade workforce planning to service level to measure the gaps, assess the strategies we have for closing the gaps and to forecast the future competencies and skills which the HSCP will need.	HR/Workforce Planning and Development	January 2020	Strategic Plan: Strategic Objectives F, I and J
	Collate workforce information with the demand pipeline to give a clear picture of the shortage of WTE posts, skills and competencies by service and by job type and influence the Scottish Government regarding required numbers.	HR/ Workforce Planning and Development	March 2020	Strategic Plan: Strategic Objectives B, F, I and J
	Identify and plan to address recruitment and retention priorities and link to	HR/Workforce Planning and Development	March 2020	Strategic Plan: Strategic Objectives I and J

		re-training programmes. Develop strategy to	Workforce Planning	January 2020	Strategic Plan:
		'grow our own' staff	and OD Group		Strategic Objectives I and J
		Develop a Youth Employment strategy	Workforce Planning and OD Group	March 2020	Strategic Plan: Strategic Objectives I and J
		Assess the impact of BREXIT on workforce availability and sustainability	HR/Workforce Planning and Development	August 2019	Strategic Plan: Strategic Objective A
		Develop support for the 'unpaid workforce' (carers and volunteers) as well as Third and Independent Sector agencies.	Change Board- Carers	January 2020	Strategic Plan: Strategic Priorities A and B
Learning and Development	We have reviewed and implemented flexible, integrated approaches to workforce learning and development with coordinated systems and processes	Progress the development and implementation of learning frameworks and map out access to learning staff have across the Partnership to promote upskilling.	Managers/Workforce Development	March 2020	Strategic Plan: Strategic Objectives I and J

		Review and detail different types of competence and skills based learning to provide the workforce with choices for blended learning.	Managers/Workforce Development	March 2020	Strategic Plan: Strategic Objectives I and J
		Develop and implement a workforce Learning Management System.	Information Systems/Workforce Development	March 2020	Strategic Plan: Strategic Objectives I and J
Enabling Careers	Opportunities for career progression are maximised across the Partnership.	Set out career pathway options to attract and retain staff.	Workforce Planning and OD Group	January 2020	Strategic Plan: Strategic Objectives I and J
		Develop and utilise tools that facilitate career progression within and across services for example professional frameworks and passports.	Workforce Planning and OD Group	March 2020	Strategic Plan Strategic Objectives I and J
		Refocus recruitment for careers and set	Managers/HR	January 2020	Strategic Plan:

		out the processes when recruiting across both organisations.			Strategic Objectives F, I and J
		Develop and implement a communications strategy to promote career options.	Communications /HR / Workforce Development	March 2020	Strategic Plan: Strategic Objectives F,I and J
Sharing Innovation	The Partnership and its services promotes innovation as an integral and important part of our culture and working practices.	Develop an innovation strategy and guidance for the Partnership.	Planning and Performance	January 2020	Strategic Plan: Strategic Objectives A,B,C,D,E,F,G,H,I,J New Ways of Working Initiative
Role Clarity and Development	New and prospective amended job roles are identified, implemented and appraised.	Identify systems and processes to facilitate where appropriate freedom to act in current areas of crossover and synergy between roles.	Managers/HR	January 2020	Strategic Plan: Strategic Objectives A,B,C,D,E,F,G,H,I,J
		Establish a working group to identify opportunities for reshaping roles and creating new roles.	Director/Head Of Service	September 2019	Strategic Plan: Strategic Objectives A,B,C,D,E,F,G,H,I,J

		Carry out a test of change on initial amended/new roles.	New working group	March 2020	Strategic Plan: Strategic Objectives A,B,C,D,E,F,G,H,I,J
		Develop a methodology for implementing role change as part of new and existing service review processes.	New working group	March 2020	Strategic Plan: Strategic Objectives A,B,C,D,E,F,G,H,I,J
Develop our Digital Strategy	Integrated digital platforms which support new ways of working are in place to promote effective collaboration across the Partnership.	Establish a working group to review existing IT initiatives and develop and cost a phased IT Plan for the Partnership.	Planning and Performance	September 2019	Strategic Plan: Strategic Objectives I,J New Ways Of Working initiative
		Review the use of social media for recruitment, communication and development for example blogging, tweeting, using Facebook and related sites within services.	Communications	September 2019	Strategic Plan: Strategic Objectives I,J New Ways of Working Initiative
Staff Experience and Engagement	A culture of promoting an engaged and	Promote Partnership values through	Workforce Planning and OD Group	January 2020	Strategic Plan: Strategic Objectives I,J

empowered workforce is actively developed	leaders to the wider workforce.			
	Promote the ongoing production of a quarterly workforce newsletter to share Partnership direction, developments, progresses and successes.	Communications	August 2019	Strategic Plan: Strategic Objectives I,J
	Bring shared language and common 'givens' into team leadership and team development so that it builds from the bottom up.	Managers/ OD	January 2020	Strategic Plan: Strategic Objectives I,J
	Bring staff Health and Wellbeing onto the agenda and support managerial understanding of how to enable it. Develop a shared approach to attendance management across the Partnership so that managers have	Workforce Planning and OD Group	January 2020	Strategic Plan; Strategic Objectives I,J

one process to			
implement.			
Implement bi-annual	Director/HR/OD	August 2019	Strategic Plan:
staff engagement			Strategic Objectives I,J
events to ensure			
staff have a direct			
voice to the senior			
management team.			
Analyse Terms and	Managers/HR	January 2020	Strategic Plan:
Conditions across			Strategic Objectives I,J
the lead employers			
and ways to promote			
the wider benefit			
packages to facilitate		•	
movement within a			
career pathway			
Build the brand of	Managers/HR/OD/	December 2019	Strategic Plan:
the Partnership	Workforce		Strategic Objectives I,J
including culture and	Development		
values to address			
barriers to effective			
working. Ensure this			
is embedded from			
Partnership induction			
through to exit			
interviews for staff.			
Assess opportunities	HR	December 2019	Strategic Plan:
to work together on			Strategic Objectives I,J
staff Health and			
Wellbeing initiatives			
including delivery of			
Occupational Health			

